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Brief history

In the eighth century the area which was to become Worcestershire and Gloucestershire was the home of a people called Hwicce, who formed a buffer state between the Mercians in the Midlands and the West Saxons in Wessex. Their name persists in the name of the forest on their eastern borders - Wychwood Forest. In this part of Gloucestershire the Hwicce were ruled by an Ealderman, named Aethelmund, who lived in Cirencester.

In 785 AD Aethelmund granted that stretch of land which we now call Northleach, Eastington and Farmington to the Abbey of St Peter’s at Gloucester. There were then some 38 households here, probably in three villages - Farmington, Eastington and Mill End. Northleach was not then in existence.

The Anglo-Saxon system of local government was to establish shires each divided into smaller units called hundreds. Each rural hundred comprised approximately ten small villages called tythings. In a town like Cirencester the hundred consisted of the town itself, which was sub-divided into wards. Each hundred settled its legal problems at a court, called the hundred court, organised normally by the Sheriff (or Shire-Reeve) on behalf of the king. The reporting of crimes and the enforcement of the sentences of the court was the task of the tythingman, or in towns, wardsman, who appear to have been elected to the office.

In 1189 Richard the Lionheart was crowned King of England and was more interested in Crusades to Jerusalem than in ruling England. He raised money to pay for his wars in the Holy Land in many ways and in particular he sold to the Abbot of the newly founded Abbey of Cirencester the right to hold jurisdiction over the seven hundreds near Cirencester. In these hundreds the Abbot controlled the hundred courts and drew revenues from them in the shape of fines, the confiscation of the goods of convicted criminals and so forth. In other areas this money went to the Crown via the Sheriff, but in the seven hundreds of Cirencester the money went to the Abbey.

In 1227 the Abbot of Cirencester was granted a charter for the newly established town and market of Northleach. The town is laid out in the shape of a Y with eighty burgages, or houses, along the outside of the Y. The market occupied the triangular part of the Y. The inhabitants of the burgages were the burgesses, or townsmen. The Abbot of Gloucester collected his rents and other revenue from the market through his Bailiff, who was elected by the burgesses. In 1235 the Abbot of Gloucester bought from the Abbot of Cirencester the right to hold a market court which could collect fines to the limit of £2 per offence, licence fees and other revenues. This cost  the Abbot  of Gloucester six shillings per year and the Abbot of Cirencester reserved the right to send his steward to inspect the market court at Northleach to ensure that it was functioning properly and also that it was not exceeding its authority.

In 1540 the abbeys were closed down and their rights and properties passed into other hands. The Court of Northleach appears to have continued to function and since it no longer had to report its activities to either Abbot, it  established a written record, known as the Northleach Court Book in which is recorded its meetings and affairs from 1540 to the present day.

The early court consisted of a Bailiff, two constables, two wardsmen (or tythingmen) and six arbitrators. They were chosen or elected at a court meeting each autumn.

The rights of the Abbot of Cirencester came eventually to the Bathurst family and the present Earl Bathurst is Lord of the Seven Hundreds of Cirencester, and as such has the right to send his Steward to Northleach to oversee the conduct of the court. Nowadays the only meeting of the court is the annual Bailey-making conducted by the Steward of the Lord of the Seven Hundreds of Cirencester, usually in the presence of the Lord. This court, which is similar in form to a manorial court, but is also uniquely different in conception, is called a court leet, and Earl Bathurst, as Lord of the Seven Hundreds of Cirencester, is the lord of the leet.

In 1792 the ‘hundred courts’ were dissolved by Act of Parliament which established ‘Courts of Requests’. By this Act seventy five Commissioners were appointed in the area of the Seven Hundreds and thirty eight of them were appointed by the Earls Bathurst, as Lord of the Seven Hundreds. Their jurisdiction extended from Aston Blank to Westonbirt and from Rodborough to Lechlade. In 1847 County Courts were established and took over from the previous courts. The three county court districts of Cirencester, Stroud and Northleach were formed out of the Seven Hundreds. In recognition of the rights of the Lord of the Hundreds the County Court Act gave to Earl Bathurst the right of nominating the first Registrar of these three courts.

After a mutually convenient date in late autumn has been agreed the Steward issues notices of the Court to the Constables, who post them about the town. The Constables also choose twelve jurors who will elect the officers of the court for the ensuing year. On the night of the court, which is conducted by the Steward, the High Bailiff reads a proclamation opening the Court. The Jury are sworn in and proceed to elect the Officers of the Court. These are the High Bailiff, the two Constables, the two tythingmen, the two carnals and the hayward. The High Bailiff nowadays is the Chairman of the Town Trustees, who administer the Town Charities. The Constables are responsible for the organisation of the court. The tythingmen were formerly responsible for bringing offenders before the courts. The carnals were responsible for the inspection of food and drink sold in the town. The Hayward was responsible for the welfare of the cattle on Northleach Downs, since each burgess, or householder, was entitled to pasture a cow on the Downs. The cows were then taken up to the Downs each morning by the Hayward and brought back home each night. This is why most old Northleach houses have a clear run from front door to back.
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